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For Andrea




‘One does not want to recommend it as a book so much as to greet it as a person, and not the clipped and imperfect person of ordinary autobiography, but the whole and complete person whom we meet rarely enough in life or in literature.’


Virginia Woolf reviewing W. H. Hudson’s
Far Away and Long Ago, 1918


‘To know that you could read me is good news indeed – for one writes only half the book; the other half is with the reader’.


Joseph Conrad in a letter to Robert Cunninghame Graham,
5 August 1897





Chapter 1



Traces of Hudson (1841–1922)


The work and persona of W. H. Hudson – at one time one of England’s best-known novelists and naturalists – have drifted into a timeless byway and to think of him is to enter a pious, sentimental zone. He is held in such awe that his work is almost beyond literary criticism. You love him or ignore him. Most readers ignore him, unless the mere mention of his name elicits a fondness that transcends literary categories. But if you are an Argentine, you might consider him one of yours, translate his initials W. H. into full Christian names Guillermo Enrique, and read him in Spanish. Even then, his main work, Allá lejos y hace tiempo (Far Away and Long Ago, 1917), with as catchy a title in Spanish as in English, is one of those books given as school prizes that remains unread. I had often been tempted to update Hudson, to rescue him from his admirers and make him modern, but I hadn’t gone beyond accumulating his fragmentary works, casually bought from second-hand bookshops.


His conflictive identity as an Argentine, born into a displaced American family, and as an Englishman, had appealed to my own dilemmas. I have been puzzled by place and where I belong. As a Mauritian born from a Mauritian family, with a Norwegian mother and settling in London as a seven-year-old, I have struggled all my life with where I really belong. And the problem gets knottier. My Mauritian-born father Frank Avray Wilson turned his back on the tropical island of his own birth – in fact he hated it – and launched himself into the life of a tachiste or abstract expressionist painter in the London of the 1950s. He had trained at Cambridge as a natural scientist and tried, intellectually, to heal the breach between art and science (as he liked phrasing it in such general terms) by writing several books about this topic. Hudson too turned his back on Argentina, and lived and wrote between the scientific and artistic worlds. Nobody in my family ever saw themselves as immigrants or exiles. Coming from a colonial society like Mauritius had promised an imaginary England as spiritual home. Hadn’t Hudson carried out the same promise with his coming to England? Nevertheless, I only saw this lure of a dream England clearly as I explored Hudson’s roots and his adopted Englishness. For a long time I thought, like my father, that I was English.


It wasn’t odd that my parents really preferred living in France, where they moved in the 1960s. Mauritius was as French as it was English. But it was mother’s life that added to the identity conundrum. After her death in 2008 I discovered that she was illegitimate and born in Stockholm, not Oslo, as all her documents had stated. She had hushed all references to her birth and deliberately ignored her birth mother. All I knew about her was her date of birth in the parish registry in Stockholm, which I managed to locate two years after her death. There’s much family speculation about who our grandmother and the anonymous grandfather were. Yet our mother could have met her birth mother, but declined. Many families have gone through these suppressed dramas and there’s nothing unique under the sun, only her decision affected her four children. Instead, she became attached to her English, aristocratic stepmother Alice Higford and her class values. So that’s why ‘England’ became the home my parents dreamed of until they actually arrived in London in 1950.


In fact the cautious assimilation of my parents into England and its class values was completely silenced. As was Hudson’s in the late 1870s. So, through my work on Hudson, I began to understand these dumb-dramas of belonging, with no idea that they would continue into the future because they’d been denied. I even contributed by marrying Andrea, who came from Argentina. We had three daughters and thus pushed my identity puzzle even further into the metaphorical dark pit. I sensed that behind Hudson’s casual prose there was a silenced sub-world and that his root confusions somehow mirrored my own.


My approach to the puzzle of identity, I see now, has been very bookish. I’d become a university lecturer, had written books on Octavio Paz, Jorge Luis Borges and Pablo Neruda and absorbed the surrealist adventure. But, like all closet surrealists, I was aware that the world did not end up as a book. My impatience with scholarly learning ensured I never completed my doctorate. It could be as simple as my growing up with the US Beats, the French and Latin American surrealists and Camus and Sartre. I was a proud cosmopolitan. England in the early 1960s seemed parochial and absorbed with tradition, class and national history and I sought a new-world freedom. So even if pampas-born Hudson is an alien, far-off figure, locked in the remote past, I sense he holds some clues to our twenty-first-century dilemmas. After settling down with my Argentinian wife, I set about exploring his confusions in both the land of his birth and his adopted country.


I was accompanied by the usual contradiction: he was a meticulous fiction and natural history writer and yet, as a man, towered above his works. Morley Roberts reckoned that he was first a man, then a writer; that Hudson, his friend, was immeasurably greater than his books. Of course, he would say that. But maybe he’s right. A biographical approach to this self-effacing naturalist suited me down to the ground. I would track down this elusive writer.


Before turning to books and archives, I wondered what traces W.H.Hudson had left physically behind him in England. I began in Buriton after discovering a W. H. Hudson walk on the web and downloading it. In 1900 he’d found this ‘small pretty rustic village in a deep hollow among the downs where Gibbon was born’. I was curious how the area had changed since then. I don’t have a car, so boarded a train at Clapham Junction that would take me to Petersfield. In Hudson’s day, steam engines made Clapham Junction dirty and busy, so that he could use it as a metaphor for the worst of urban life. It’s still hectic. But Petersfield awaited as another England. Its large main square, with Norman church and equestrian statue of William III, teemed with white English people.


A local, empty bus took me to Buriton, stopping on the way at a massive Tesco and then at a bungalow village for the old. Dropped off, I strolled down to a duck pond with alders and lime trees, another small Norman church and a large, fortified farm, three elements that withstood change. Edward Gibbon had been born there, though no plaque stated this, and Gibbon’s six-volume Decline and Fall of the Roman Empire had been part of the Hudson’s pampas library. The dreamy duck pond’s surface broke with feeding carp and three sullen, unemployed youths were trying to fish them. A family fed white sliced bread to the ducks.
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I cut up a steep wheat field into a wooded hangar. Sunlight fell, dappled, through the leaves; there were blue tits and cuckoo spit flowers. Two colourful walkers in proper gear walked earnestly past. Later, after my walk, I met them at the bus stop waiting for the last bus at 4 p.m. We chatted. They were also finishing a ‘literary’ walk, following Edward Thomas’s trail. I mentioned my Hudson research and his friendship with the poet. The man, a retired doctor who looked like an actor, nodded: he too had downloaded the Hudson walk. It dawned on me that Hudson would have despised us. He would have loathed ‘literary’ walks, in fact any kind of guided tour. He would have wanted the wilderness of the Buriton hangars to remain wild. The old, overgrown quarries with plaques explaining their history would have depressed him.


Over the period he roamed southern England, from the 1890s to the 1920s, this labelling of the countryside hadn’t existed. England hadn’t been turned into a National Trust park. He even hated Kew Gardens because every tree was tagged. He sought areas of ‘isolation and loneliness and unchangeableness’. He would have despised not just ‘literary walkers’, but even hikers and people with dogs. Luckily, not a sign indicated a Hudson walk. He would have strayed into dense wood, escaped us ramblers as if we were lepers. I was reminded of Gerard Manley Hopkins’s lovely last line to the poem ‘Inversnaid’: ‘long live the weeds and the wilderness yet’.


My next venture in tracking down Hudson and his desire for ‘isolation and unchangeableness’ (his awkward word) was the headquarters of the Bird Protection Society he helped found, which became a Royal Society in 1904. The RSPB moved to its current premises at Sandy, Bedfordshire, in 1961, so Hudson could not have known the large Victorian mansion, employing some 600 people in a grand park being developed into one of native trees for native birds.


I spent the whole day examining boxes labelled ‘Hudson’ in their library. The RSPB had inherited his papers, or what he hadn’t managed to destroy or burn. My feeling was one of déjà vu. Earlier biographers like Ruth Tomalin and Alicia Jurado had combed the dusty papers thirty years before. Meanwhile, a friend, who would join me for several trips in my search for Hudson’s traces, wandered the park and its guided tracks in light drizzle, crossing quiet birdwatchers with binoculars. There was a spirit of peace and gentleness. Then the young, cheerful librarian wanted to show us the Board Room, so we followed her into a large room, and above the fireplace there it was, an oil portrait of Hudson by Frank Brooks. Writer and artist never met, so it was painted from a well-known photo of Hudson in the New Forest. It had cost the society £200.
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I’d felt, up to that moment, that Hudson had been relegated to unread boxes, but here he was at the heart of the building, in a section closed to the public. His guiding spirit was alive. The society’s purpose to protect birds thrives. It’s Europe’s largest wildlife conservation charity. It’s also where Hudson fell passionately in love.


To keep Hudson’s spirit alive is what his commemorative plaque promises, if you can read it. Hudson lived in different lodgings in the North Kensington and Paddington area of London from his arrival in England in May 1874 to his death in 1922. On a corner of 40 St Luke’s Road, his London home from 1886 to his death, Hudson’s Friends Society of Buenos Aires had placed a square plaque in 1938. It’s not blue, but a bronze relief by the well-known Argentine sculptor Luis Perlotti of Hudson’s birth shack, called Los Veinte-cinco Ombúes (Hudson’s old-fashioned spelling), near Quilmes. It features an engraved line from near the start of Far Away and Long Ago that reads, ‘The house where I was born in the South American pampas . . .’ He’s also referred to as a ‘great writer’, but you can hardly decipher it.


[image: Illustration]


[image: Illustration]


On the same house, a second, more readable plaque was placed in 1991 by the Argentine ambassador and the Anglo-Argentine Society, but now he’s lost the ‘great’ and become just a ‘writer and naturalist’. Again, it’s not blue. Each time I’m there I promise Hudson I’ll clean up the plaques. The Argentines are keener in claiming him as their own.


Another monument is Hudson’s tomb in Worthing’s Broadwater Cemetery. He is buried with his English wife, Emily. From the station we walked up a quiet street, lined with mock Tudor red-bricked houses, until we reached the cemetery. Before going under the gatehouse, there’s a little fenced-in garden, with yews, wildflowers and birdbath, dedicated to Hudson and to fellow naturalist and novelist Richard Jefferies. Signs directed us to the simple tomb, where the cheap cross has been left fallen. Hudson’s friend Robert Cunningham Grahame had tried to prevent the erection of any cross. The tomb lay unkempt by the road and a holly hedge. It was in stark contrast to Jefferies’s tombstone, kept in good order by the Richard Jefferies Society. Hudson had asked for simple daisies to be planted there, but there aren’t any.
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You can read his full name, William Henry Hudson, his complete birth date, 4 August 1841 in Buenos Aires, and his death date, 18 August 1922 in London. Below, Emily his wife is given just her death date, 19 March 1921. He ended up buried in Worthing because his invalided wife had died there one year before and also to be close to Richard Jefferies. Nobody had cleaned his tomb; it was far from clumps of lovely pines and had no birdbath. It was the oblivion Hudson wanted.


Someone had decided on the lines ‘He loved birds and green places and the wind on the heath and saw the brightness of the skirts of God’, fusing a line from George Borrow with some from the little-remembered US poet William Cullen Bryant (1794–1878). The reference to God is wrong. Hudson didn’t believe in the afterlife or in personal immortality; he knew from a boy that nobody survived death.
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Standing at his neglected tomb and reading the epitaphs, I realized only seventeen months separated the deaths of husband and wife. He’d pondered how old couples followed each other to death, with the survivor’s ‘awful solitude’ a spur to die. It happened to my old parents in their early nineties. Grief for the death of his wife left my father without reason, lost in dementia. He survived her by nine months of hell. We were the only people in the cemetery. You can spot the downs and the Chanctonbury Ring Hudson loved. His spirit was up there, though he had also sauntered the cemetery itself as an old man. When Henry Williamson visited Jefferies’s tomb in early 1921, a gardener told him ‘that an old gentleman with a beard and the eyes of an eagle told him he would like to be buried near Jefferies when his time came’.


The most noteworthy monument recalling Hudson is the Hyde Park Bird Sanctuary in London. Few park strollers realize it’s dedicated to Hudson, or who he was. In fact, it’s marked on the park maps, but not in the latest A–Z London maps. I’ve taken many people there to stare in surprise at Jacob Epstein’s solid Portland stone block with its relief of an erotic, primitive Rima flying up, hair streaming, bare-breasted, among mythic birds. Epstein’s first maquette was of a gangly Hudson lying back in a grove and bird-spotting, but the park authorities refused to have a representation of an actual person. So Epstein picked on Rima, his humming-bird character from Hudson’s romance, Green Mansions. Eric Gill was also involved and had incised Hudson’s dates in roman numerals on each side of the relief.
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Epstein’s Rima took seven months to carve in his studio in Epping Forest. Roger Fry, Bloomsbury’s art critic, found her ‘with the haggard shyness and strangeness of wild things’. Swiss-born Aimé Félix Tschiffely (1895–1954), biographer of Hudson’s friend Robert Cunninghame Graham, claimed Hudson used to kip in that exact spot in Hyde Park when lonely and poor. Tschiffely knew a little about Hudson’s wild spirit: he who rode two horses, ‘Mancha’ and ‘Gato’, from Buenos Aires to Washington over three years.


In a corner of the sanctuary, a black, streaky slate tells us that it is dedicated to the memory of Hudson, ‘Writer & Field Naturalist’. Then along the border of the stone bird troughs there are more chiselled references to W. H. Hudson. It’s railed in, but is a quiet spot, with a bench where you can sit and reflect. As Tom Sutherland showed me, it also once had a fountain that worked.


Nowhere does it reveal the scandal of its unveiling on 19 May 1925. It’s funny how history revitalizes a monument. Cunninghame Graham had argued for avant-garde Epstein to design a bird sanctuary in Hyde Park (after all, Epstein had sculpted his own bust just before). When Epstein was nominated, according to Linda Gardiner, who was on the committee, Lord Grey and John Galsworthy, two Hudson defenders, resigned in protest. First move of the anti-Epstein cohort.
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Jacob Epstein by his Rima


Finished, the Hudson monument was unveiled by Stanley Baldwin, the Prime Minister, who later collected his speech in his essays On England (1926). I’ve seen a photo of Baldwin standing before the unveiled block, not knowing what was to appear. Hudson, he said, came from the ends of the earth and made the hidden beauties of the southern counties familiar to thousands. He listed Hudson’s bêtes noires – his disgust at the felling of the elms with its rookery in Kensington Gardens, eating plovers’ eggs and bird feathers decorating women’s hats.


Then, after a speech from Cunningham Grahame, the promoter of Epstein, Baldwin unveiled the bird sanctuary. There was a gasp of horror from the crowd. Naked Rima became headlines in the newspapers and generated furious letters to The Times. A ‘hullabaloo’ is Philip Gosse’s word for it. In a letter to the Morning Post, signed by Hilaire Belloc and Sir Arthur Conan Doyle, amongst others, Rima was deemed ‘inappropriate and even repellent’; the writers wanted it removed. Newspapers nicknamed it the Hyde Park Atrocity. Hudson’s friend, Margaret, Lady Brooke, the Ranee of Sarawak, agreed and wrote, ‘Get the FOUL thing removed’. The scandal even reached the House of Commons where Sir Basil Peto requested the removal of that ‘specimen of Bolshevik art’. It was daubed and desecrated, and in 1935 a swastika was painted over it in what Epstein called national Rimaphobia. It made Roger Fry issue a call to all who cared about art to ‘face the modern foe’, the delicate Philistines, even if he didn’t like Epstein’s sculpture.


Another trace of Hudson is a simple granite stone at Zennor, Cornwall, with ‘W. H. Hudson often came here’ carved on it, still just decipherable. Zennor, a lonely village nestling among the furze, was near where Hudson wintered from November 1905 onwards. He would sit on Zennor Hill, by the old quarry, and survey the desolate scenery. According to a cutting from the Cornishman, a Mr Lewis Hyde often saw Hudson sitting on this boulder in what was known in the 1920s as Hudson’s Seat. Whenever Hyde tried to approach him, Hudson refused to answer, so absorbed was he in his thoughts.


Unable to sleep one night at Zennor, Hudson had an insight about ‘this dreadful unintelligible and unintelligent power that made us’, what you could call the terrible aspect of nature. A divine indifference characterized this ‘all-powerful and ever-lasting, creator and slayer of all things that live, of beauty’, that was ‘without knowledge or thought or emotion and that which he made and would unmake was without significance to him’. But, though melancholic, he was not pessimistic and hope came with dawn and starlings.


At the church in Martin, some eight and a bit miles south of Salisbury, there’s a little plaque mentioning Hudson. We hired a car and drove there. Up a narrow lane we found the humble village church that Hudson loved. He would always visit the churches in remote villages during his rambles, and churches hardly change. After parking the car under an enormous apple tree with green cookers, we immediately saw the tombstone of William Lawes, shepherd father to the shepherd who featured in Hudson’s A Shepherd’s Life, in front of the church. It was almost as if the tombstone had been moved there so you wouldn’t miss it.


Three different villagers we talked to, like the Lawes family, knew that Hudson had written about Martin, thus perpetuating this shepherd. Hudson was known as an author who’d immortalized their village in a book. But Martin was desperately poor at the turn of the nineteenth century. Now it’s pretty, with climbing roses and well-kept lawns, an estate agent’s dream. Sitting on a bench in the cemetery, eating our sandwiches, we could still glimpse the downs and the isolation Hudson so craved.
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A last English memorial to Hudson is Stone Hall Sanctuary on the Easton Lodge Estate of Frances, Countess of Warwick. I had to visit it and see if the lodge still existed, as no biographers had mentioned it. Before taking the train to Stansted airport and then a taxi in squalls of rain, I found out that Daisy Greville, society beauty married to Lord Warwick, had led a tempestuous life, even being one of Edward VII’s mistresses. But, unpredictably, during the war, this gossipy nature lover veered, scandalously, into becoming a sympathizer of the communist October Revolution and then the Labour Party. She tried to donate her enormous house to the Trade Union Conference in 1923, but then it burnt down, losing twenty-eight bedrooms. According to a biographer, one of her pet monkeys dragged a blanket across a fire and set the blaze going, burning all her papers.


As an amateur, she wrote on nature and on the socialist William Morris, and was a close friend of H. G. Wells, who lived at Grebe, a house nearby. Her 800-acre park became a sanctuary for her horses and all wild life, and she banned fox hunting. She invited the aristocratic eccentric Robert Cunninghame Graham to open the Hudson house, Stone Hall Sanctuary, in 1923 in the estate’s Garden of Friendship, with a library of Hudson’s works. H. J. Massingham, another nature writer and Hudson fan, also attended. ‘I hope and believe,’ she wrote, ‘that many students will spend happy hours in the sylvan seclusion’. But she was too capricious to upkeep the memorial, and after her death it vanished. During the war, the United States Air Force cut down 10,000 oaks to make an airfield. The house fell into disuse and was demolished. The zoo was shut down and the monkeys were shot. Countess Warwick claimed Hudson as ‘one of the rare intellects of my generation’.
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William Lawes tombstone, with small plaque at bottom mentioning Hudson, dated 1919.


When we reached the garden’s entrance outside Great Easton, a sign said it was closed to the public. I took the taxi’s number, sent it back to Stansted and we climbed over the fence into the garden. Little remained of that grand lady’s whims but some upright columns, a gazebo, flowers beds and evidence of landscaping among the trees in the rain. Walking round what was the sole remaining building, a wing of the great pile, we bumped into the current owner walking his dog. We had been caught trespassing, but he liked my story, though had never heard of Hudson. We gossiped about Lady Warwick and he walked us to Great Easton village duck pond and church from where we could, with luck, get a bus back. One detail I retained about Countess Warwick was that she insisted on being addressed as Comrade Warwick. All obeyed except her servants who continued calling her ‘your ladyship’.


So much for Hudson’s meagre physical traces in England, but I also want to check what’s happened to Hudson, that is Guillermo Enrique Hudson, in Argentina. It’s almost as if he’s another person out there. I came across his work as I was getting to know my wife’s Argentinian family in the 1970s. We both came from landed families on the wane. Nothing could be more dissimilar from a small Mauritian sugar estate than a cattle farm on the pampas, but our sensibilities met at that point of the arc. Poet Alberto Girri had warned me not to translate already known poets. ‘Be the first to translate’, he said. I was on the look out to find a guide to my new life and found Hudson. We were on reverse journeys. He had gone to England and I was going to Argentina. Few had written on him and I loved his calm writing. There were further points of contact, not least Hudson’s own passage between science and art which mirrored my own often antagonistic arguments with my father. As I became familiar with farm life, from castrating bullocks to having mate with farm hands, I became familiar with a part of Hudson’s life that was out of most people’s range. Life on my wife’s cattle farm was essentially nineteenth-century in comparison with the modern island-city of Buenos Aires. In fact I was privileged to see this farm activity in its last years before television, combine harvesters and mobile phones took over. Hudson was also an author in my mother-in-law’s small library as a field naturalist. She was a keen member of the Argentine bird society and had read him in Spanish. I slowly built up a patchwork of experiences of the pampas that I could test with Hudson. I even found a reference to my wife’s land in Hudson’s writings. The big farms have been broken up and divided by family successions, but Hudson had fixed its peculiar life-style in time and in print.


Drivers speeding along the motorway from Buenos Aires to La Plata, the provincial capital, stop and pay at a peaje (tollbooth) called ‘G. E. Hudson’. Nearby, there’s a train station called Guillermo Enrique Hudson (before 1930 it had been called Conchitas, the name of a stream that passed through the Hudson land). I bet that 99.9 per cent of its users haven’t a clue to the identity of the name.


Despite a map, the most recent time we drove to the Museo Provincial Guillermo Enrique Hudson in Florencio Varela, Quilmes, a regional borough of Buenos Aires, we got quite lost. Bumping down mud streets with precarious housing, but not shanties, we drove in circles. I had to ring Rubén Ravera, the director of the Hudson museum, to see if he’d come and fetch us. We met at a petrol station and he guided us to our destination. Once, he told us, he invited the English and Japanese ambassadors there, to thank them for donating money to buy more land, but they couldn’t get there. When it rains the dust roads turn into impassable mud. By then I had met Rubén several times, and he’s wonderful value, and a canny defender of Hudson’s writings.


The museum’s first director, Violeta Shinya (1910–2003), was Hudson’s grand-niece. Her mother Laura was the daughter of Hudson’s sister, Mary Ellen, and married the Japanese immigrant Yoshio Shinya. Violeta, after her mother’s early death, was brought up by Mary Ellen and inherited Japanese looks from her father. I met her once. She sat in an armchair with a rug and chatted about the difficulties of translating Hudson into Argentine Spanish. She died without descent. She was the closest I came to Hudson in person, though there is one descendant with the Hudson surname.


Rubén Ravera had taken over from Violeta Shinya when she retired in 1990 and then fallen out with her. She was an elitist who lived under the shadow of the well-connected Argentinian writer Victoria Ocampo; she was also jealous of Hudson’s biographer, Alicia Jurado. Rubén Ravera’s dream is to write a history of the Museo and his relationship with Violeta Shinya. But he’s very porteño (as Buenos Aireans are called), and he’s a master of many trades promoting Gesell’s economic philosophy, admiring English-born E. F. Schumacher and studying to become a museologist. He once had a job bringing ice to an Amazonian tribe on the Río Negro in Venezuela, and another organizing a barter market in Caracas, and that’s just a start of the many balls he’s juggling. But above all, he loves Hudson and does all he can to stock a library and preserve Hudson’s stature, although he once bitterly said to me, ‘I’ve nobody to talk with about Hudson’ (biographers Alicia Jurado, Ruth Tomalin and Dennis Shrubsall had all recently died).
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Los Veinte-Cinco Ombúes today.


Inside the grounds of the Museo, there’s a bust of Hudson, a poor likeness, and his shack. I am always moved when faced with what’s left of his home, testimony to the Hudsons’ poverty. W. H. Hudson’s Los Veintecinco Ombúes, where he was born on 4 August 1841, was a humble ‘rancho’ or small farm house, dating from 1750, the oldest building in the region. He was born in this peasant’s thatched shack, with just three small rooms, a protruding roof functioning as a gallery and no bathroom. It was made with thin, sun-baked adobe bricks, with an adobe-brick floor. There are no stones in the pampas.
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Hudson’s birth shack in the 1930s.


How this large family lived in such cramped spaces is a puzzle. Did the children sleep together, with the parents in a second room? Did the sole girl (a second sister was born later in Las Acacias) sleep with the parents? According to Rubén Ravera, the kitchen was a separate house, as was the washroom, but neither stands today. The first time I visited, I had wanted to know if the kitchen was any different to the typical gaucho one described in Hudson’s tale ‘Niño Diablo’, lighted by three wicks in cups of melted fat and heated by a great fire in the middle of a clay floor. All around, on hooks, riding gear and kitchen utensils. At the fire, beef would be roasting on a spit and a large pot would hang from a beam filled with mutton broth, with a smaller pot for extras. Everybody sat around on chairs or stools. Kitchens were the hub of social life, so the building’s absence denied me a glimpse of the young Hudson’s life. I’m left without a precise idea of how the Hudsons lived. I’d visited a farm-worker’s mud-floored hut in the 1970s and knew of several nineteenth-century prints like Pallière’s, but none could give me an exact image. The Hudsons were North Americans in exile and just very different and more cultured, yet they were as poor as their neighbours.


Despite the squashed space for a family of eight, there was a library of some 200 volumes. This pampas library was the decisive factor that distinguished Hudson from the neighbouring, illiterate gauchos. The books have been dispersed, but Ravera and his team have amassed an excellent, new collection, housed in a special hut. A year earlier, I had spent a day going through all their Hudson documents. There’s also a run-down café, where you can buy Hudson in translation. In the place of honour, there’s a photo of late president Néstor Kirchner, holding a copy of Hudson’s Allá lejos y hace tiempo in his hand. The little ecological reserve survives by hosting events and talks.
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Jean Leon Pallière, 1864.
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Jean Leon Pallière, El Ombú, 1864.


It took Dr Pozzo, mayor of Quilmes and a doctor, two years to locate this rancho; after much searching of landholding documents, he found it in 1929. He decided to translate Far Away and Long Ago into Allá lejos y hace tiempo in 1938. Just before his death in 1950, he persuaded the Davidsons to donate the four hectares on which the shack stood. This birth rancho became the Guillermo Enrique Hudson Museum in 1957. In 1980 it changed its name to the Parque Hudson para la Ecología y la Cultura, run by the Sociedad de Amigos de Hudson.


The first time I reached the Museo in 1987, driving round and round the poor area, I discovered that what was a Parque Ecológico on my map was actually a football pitch, covered with tattered plastic bags. Finally, a padlocked gate led onto the Hudson family land through a wood of black acacia and paraíso trees. A man on a horse suddenly loomed up and opened the doors to the hut. Inside the small rooms were books, photocopies and much about Cunninghame Graham. It was like a messy schoolroom.


The name of the shack, Los Veinte-cinco Ombúes, came from an avenue of twenty-five ombú trees (although the ombú is hollow inside, more like a giant thistle). The evergreen tree had great significance to Hudson. The sole surviving ombú on the site could be ‘over a hundred years old’, said the laconic horseman. The shack, with a corrugated tin roof, was built on a rise, a loma, and looked on to the Las Conchitas stream and fields of enormous drying thistle, which was the main fuel for the kitchen. Hudson remembered how in certain years, the spiky thistle grew so high you couldn’t ride out of your house; he called it a thistle year.


Years later, current director Rubén Ravera drove me there from Buenos Aires for my second visit. Before setting off, he pointed to a house a few doors down from where he lived in the south of Buenos Aires on Bolívar street and said that Hudson used to stay there on Bolívar, 314. It belonged to the Methodist minister, and Hudson recalled playing there in a covered patio. The original colonial house was single-storeyed, with inner patios, at the very edge of town, with a stream along the bisecting street. How amusing, I thought, to take the same thirty-three kilometre journey in a van that Hudson had taken on horse.


At the time, Ravera was expanding the museum’s land into an ecological park. With donations from Lloyds Bank and Japanese funds organized by Matsuo Tsuda, the ex-ambassador to Japan who ran a Hudson foundation in his homeland, Ravera had bought up 54 hectares. He was constantly fighting land grabbers, marauding cows and hunters who saw free wasteland and not an ecological park. Squatters had built a corrugated tin shack and refused to budge. When two permanent policemen were lodged there, tensions calmed.


The huge, single ombú I had seen on my first visit still stood as a sentinel to Hudson’s days. An alert naturalist-guide confirmed that it was hollow. He took me on a tour of the park with a tripod and special binoculars, and had counted forty-two different bird species that morning. The direction in which the ebullient Rubén was leading the Museo was exactly right, an ecological centre, near enough to Buenos Aires to function as a kind of closed-off sanctuary or paradise for urbanites. You didn’t have to read Hudson to appreciate this spot, surrounded by factories, gated communities and shopping malls, some abusing the name Hudson, and the inevitable shanties. It is a living monument to the kind of ecology that Hudson revered.
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The Ombú at Hudson’s musem.


Before my first meeting with Rubén Ravera I decided to take a trip to the town of Quilmes itself, now a suburb to Buenos Aires, to see a statue of Hudson by sculptor Santiago Parodi. Quilmes was named after the Kilmes who lived in a Valle Calchaqui fortress city, near Tucumán in the north of the country. They resisted the Spaniards until they were defeated in 1666. They were relocated fifteen kilometres outside Buenos Aires. Quilmes is now famous for its beer – still called Quilmes – and an English public school, St George’s.


I took a 98 bus called a colectivo or bondi in Spanish from a plaza Once taken over by street sellers and slow-walking indigenous South Americans. It covered the thirty-odd kilometres in an hour and a half of constant traffic lights and identical, low-level, concrete and shabby buildings, with neon signs and second-hand car salerooms. I could be anywhere in what used to be called the Third World. I didn’t know when to get off, it was so numbingly monotonous, but a woman sitting next to me pointed out the station plaza, and I jumped up stiffly.


I walked seven blocks to the neo-colonial cathedral with its twin towers. Hudson’s mother had contributed to its building in 1858 (it was finished in 1866), just as Hudson himself had given something towards paving the road from Quilmes to his shack. Then I found the Monumento a Hudson, standing amongst trees on the Plaza del Bicentenario. His name was engraved in the pedestal and he was described as a ‘naturalist and writer of Quilmes’ in Spanish. Santiago Parodi, after travelling Latin America as a professional boxer, reinvented himself as a self-taught sculptor. He spent two years on Hudson’s bust.


In 1940, the discoverer of Hudson’s hut, Dr Pozzo, organized the unveiling of Parodi’s statue. It was the first public Hudson event in Argentina and celebrated the century since his birth. Pozzo said: ‘After a hundred years, Hudson has returned to being an Argentine.’ The bust stood tall, gilded in bronze. It was a good likeness. Months after my visit, I discovered that Antonio Parodi, Santiago’s brother, had painted twenty-six oils of the Hudson shack. Parodi is my wife’s surname and at an auction we had bought two Parodi landscapes, without knowing who on earth he was.


After looking at the statue, I wandered into the main Quilmes bookshop and asked for any books by Guillermo Enrique. I was told to go to a smaller bookshop on the other side of the cathedral square. I’d see Hudson’s books in the window of a tiny second-hand bookshop. I identified myself to the owner, who turned out to be the sister of Rubén Ravera, whom I hadn’t yet met. This happy consequence of an almost pointless journey led to my meeting him and being driven out to the Museo Hudson.


Another day-trip needed to be organized. When Miriam, a yoga-teacher friend, offered to drive us, my wife and I leapt at the chance. There were two versions of where the Hudsons had lived in their house, Las Acacias, from about 1846 to 1856, after they had moved from the shack. Hudson remembered a vague, day-long cart journey in June, winter, to the new, rented home Las Acacias (named after a tree) on the route to Chascomús, where most of Far Away and Long Ago happened. The Hudson family moved by large-wheeled cart, drawn by oxen, along the Camino Real southwards in the direction of the village of Chascomús. Hudson’s memory may have shrunk this journey, as an early Hudson biographer, Jorge Casares, had asked an old man who had travelled the same distance in 1874 and was told he set out at three in the morning and arrived late at night.


Las Acacias was a thatched adobe-brick house with high ceilings and large windows with iron bars to let cool air pass through. Behind this large house that fronted the road was a store, a dairy, a kitchen, a dovecote, huge barns and woodpiles of thistle stalks. There was also a seven-acre wood of pear trees, black acacias (with sharp thorns) and Lombardy poplars, but no pines, no eucalyptus, no evergreens. This was Hudson’s childhood ‘wooded wonderland’. The site was originally a small frontier fort. A moat, some twelve feet deep and thirty wide to defend from Indian attacks, surrounded the buildings.


[image: Illustration]


But where was it? Jorge Casares was sure that it was the old Estancia Vitel, a ranch or farm belonging to Leonardo de la Gándara. The Gándaras had been exiled by tyrant Juan Manuel de Rosas to Montevideo, and so would have taken any tenant. They returned in 1856 after Rosas’s defeat in the battle of Caseros. Gándara was a judge in nearby Chascomús, and a Gándara appears in Far Away and Long Ago. Remains of the irrigation ditch of this Estancia Vitel were found, Casares claimed, near the railway station of Gándara. The station was established in 1865, long after the Hudsons had left. We drove there and walked up and down the platform and around the lovely station. The Mar del Plata express passed through. But not a sign of the Vitel house or of any ditch.


We were having a picnic on the front lawn of an abandoned worker’s cottage, opposite a large, fenced off and closed-down factory, when a guardian approached. After the inevitable formalities, he suggested I call on a sixty-five year-old who might remember, but I declined politely, aware that personal memory was no good. Hudson had lived there over 170 years before. The factory hadn’t existed then. It made the well-known Gándara dulce de leche, then closed down. He suggested I checked the abandoned church and monastery. That seemed more promising.
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We walked into an overgrown garden, with waist-high grass and a huge mansion, featuring inner patios and its own church. A broom stood propped against the door. Someone still cleaned the church. This was far too big for Hudson’s home. I discovered later it was built for an order of nuns that no longer exists. A very rich widow, Manuela Nevares de Monasterio, asked society architect Alejandro Bustillo to design it. Bustillo became famous for anachronistic, anti-modernist buildings. The monastery was founded in 1939 and closed in 1954. There may have been sixty empty rooms, but inside all we found were a few blood-sucking ticks that had stuck to us. Prestige buildings needed maintenance. It had been quickly forgotten when the funds had run out, like so many buildings in Argentina.


Rubén Ravera gave me the exact location for the other possible site of Hudson’s second home. A retired art historian, Juan Carlos Lombán, had taken two years to locate Las Acacias as the Posta de Hardoy. In a privately printed book, he worked out that Hudson could not have heard cannons firing at the battle of Caseros in 1852 (where General Rosas was defeated), as he had described, unless he was less than forty kilometres away. He also deduced that the cart journey would have taken far more than five hours, though Hudson’s memory could have played tricks. So Lombán located it at kilometre 74 on Ruta 2 in the partido de Brandsen, by an abandoned YPF petrol station. It was on the main road to the seaside resort of Mar del Plata.
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Miriam, our yoga-teacher friend, caught sight of a large board for Chacras de Hudson, a new country club. We parked and I walked in. A young man with dyed blond hair and an ear-ring approached. He softened when I told him who I was and why we were here and offered to drive us to Hudson’s home, Las Acacias, where he happened to be living.


We followed his car along an avenue of young trees towards the brand-new but empty clubhouse and pool, the first new building erected there, in expectation of 341 more. At the moment, it was open fields, with yellow dandelions and startling red verbenas. I learned later that part of the Posta de Hardoy had been knocked down by the previous owner to make a large, shiny barn. We parked by an old, ruined dovecot that could have been there during Hudson’s time. He referred to a round dovecote; this one was hexagonal, but maybe his memory let him down.


The house itself had two floors and was surrounded by an acacia wood, with some very old and large pear trees (‘the oldest pear tree in Argentina’, said the foreman), two or three centennial oaks and a large fig tree. This was definitely the place. I could work out the position of the Hudson’s store front where gauchos would tie up their horses . . . I learned that a Fundación Hudson was restoring the old adobe-brick house, but when I later asked Rubén Ravera, he’d never heard of this foundation.
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Las Acacias c1868, with a young Francisco Moreno in white suit.


The modern foreman mentioned that his boss had given him Hudson’s Allá lejos y hace tiempo to read, but it lay by his bedside unopened. After driving round the place, we left with the owner’s telephone number in Buenos Aires, while Miriam handed out a yoga invitation to the young man.


Miriam hadn’t a clue who Hudson was until I briefed her along the motorway. Oddly, Hudson’s name and abode had become a major selling point for buyers in a land without much recorded history. You could buy your house plot with its whiff of history surrounding Hudson, and a vague ecological intention. It looked far better undeveloped, with open fields and scattered trees.


From a tall tree, you could spot, Hudson wrote, the freshwater lake, never deeper than four feet, and famous for its pejerrey fish. There was a lake by the new clubhouse, adding authenticity to the claim that this site was Las Acacias. One photo exists of Las Acacias but I’m not sure it’s exactly as it was in the days of the Hudsons (there’s a tower in the background he does not mention).
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Jean Leon Pallière, La Pupería, c1864.


At Las Acacias, Daniel, Hudson’s father became a storekeeper, running that archetypal pampas store called a pulpería. He sold whatever passing gauchos needed. It was known as Usón’s store, in an adaptation of the Hudson name. Hudson himself never called his new home a pulpería. He knew many of them, he admitted, from his wanderings around Azul, like the one illustrated by Leon Pallière, nearly all run by French Basques. Juan Carlos Lombán revealed that in an 1854 census in Quilmes, there were five bakers, but forty-six pulperías. The word’s root is ‘pulpo’ or octopus, perhaps dried ones sold by the store.


Luis Franco insisted on how crucial this kind of store was in exploring Hudson’s Argentine roots. It’s where locals bought and sold all they needed for their country lives, from ostrich feathers, to hides, knives, cheeses, yerba mate, tobacco, wine, medicines. Hanging on hooks were horse’s bits, saddles, ponchos, all typical pampas stuff, but Made in England. Franco called a pulpería the gaucho’s Mecca because it was also a bar, a social club, where gauchos from all around arrived by horse, drunk, played taba, sang on their guitars and fought. The Hudson store was no different.


Robert Cunninghame Graham wrote a sketch called ‘La Pulpería’ in 1898. As he knew them first-hand while in Argentina in 1870, it’s worth reviving. Hudson, in a letter to him on 7 November 1898, found the story ‘too brutal in its realism’ and also so local that it was only for the ‘initiated’, like himself, for what would an English reader make of this gaucho tale: ‘He would want every sentence, every clause explained.’ Of course, Hudson had lived in one for roughly twenty years.


As the narrator, Cunninghame Graham tied up his horse on the palenque (bar), walked into a pulpería and ordered his red wine in a tin cup. He is dressed as a gaucho, with his facón or fighting knife and revolver. Indeed, he did dress as a gaucho in real-life and wore a gaucho belt. However, no Spanish words are translated. He wanted his reader to feel the strangeness. Hudson was the contrary, and avoided spraying his texts with Argentine Spanish terms. The pulpero – it could have been Daniel Hudson – stood behind his wooden reja (bars), surrounded by bottles. The house was low, squat, mud-built, surrounded by a shallow ditch, as was the Hudsons’, in tierra adentro, that is, land claimed by the Indians. Outside were gauchos, with their toes sticking through their botas de potro or boots moulded to their feet from a recently killed horse, strumming a guitar and singing duels. In this store you could buy ponchos made in Leeds, sardines, raisins, bread and figs. All the trails lead to this shack like rails to a junction, wrote Cunninghame Graham. Here the narrator heard about Martín Fierro, for this gaucho narrative poem had returned to illiterate culture. Hudson may have objected to the story’s dense realism, but he empathized with its overload of local details because he had lived it to the full.


The gauchos of Argentina played a crucial role not only for Cunninghame Graham, but Hudson too. Sir Francis Bond Head, rabidly anti-Catholic, soldier-cum-mining engineer, promoted his Romantic view of the gaucho in 1826 in his bestselling Rapid Rides Across the Pampas, an account of crossing the pampas four times to visit mines in the Andes. The gauchos were wild and lived in poor huts, surrounded with the litter of bones and carcasses, like an ‘ill-kept dog-kennel’. Everybody lived in one room, with babies hanging in bullock hides from the roof. By four years old the children could ride, and started helping with catching and taming wild horses. They were tough thanks to their constant diet of meat and water, without milk, bread or vegetables. They were perfectly adapted to their needs. In fact, there were no luxuries, apart from a roof over their heads, dried thistles for the fire and mate amargo to drink. Whatever else they needed could be bought from the pulperías. Were they happy without luxuries? Head romantically thought so and found them courteous, always welcoming to a stranger passing by and devoted to their freedom, outside laws. They were ‘delightfully independent’.


A counter-view was given by naturalist Félix de Azara, who in 1847 described the gauchos of the pampas as filthy as pigs, living in shacks without windows or doors, without furniture except for a barrel for water, drinking horns, low stools and a few pot and pans. These wild men killed another man as easily as a cow, gambled, got drunk, walked barefoot, didn’t know a clock or any rules. Azara did agree with Head that horses were ‘all their delight’. Their meat-only diet made them laugh at Europeans who eat ‘grass’. Hudson is in the middle, neither a Romantic nor a disgusted European, but is all-accepting.


The first gaucho hut I visited on horseback in the early 1970s, near Rauch, had two or three rooms with mud floors – for the life of the gaucho had barely advanced over the hundred years since Hudson. They might be courteous and generous, but were still illiterate. And today, even though literacy has advanced, a farm hand I know well can scarcely read. I was aware of the facón in their belt, of their drinking and fighting, and always that tough cattle work from dawn to dusk. Coming from England, their poverty was shocking.


One last place I wanted to visit in search of traces of Hudson was in Buenos Aires. I’d heard that Jorge Casares had donated his Hudson library to the Sociedad Ornitológica del Plata. Jorge Casares came from a wealthy landowning family. He was related to the writer Adolfo Bioy Casares and to the owner of my favourite second-hand bookshop on Suipacha Street called Casares. He’d written a short Hudson biography in 1929 in a specialized bird magazine, unusually referring to him in Spanish as W.H.Hudson, and was the first person in Argentina to take him seriously as an ornithologist. It was only later that he was reinvented as Guillermo Enrique by Dr Pozzo.


After locating the webpage of the renamed bird society – it was now known as Aves Argentinas – I took a bus to the south of the city and entered the newish building on Matheu street. However, my luck was out as the librarian had been called away for a week. After a week, I returned (you usually have to do everything twice in Buenos Aires as information is unreliable and people do what they want) and was shown upstairs to the library. There had been a leak after the last of the torrential summer storms, with puddles on the floor, but the young postgrad student, standing in as librarian, showed me to a table. I asked if I had to register, or use a pencil, remembering how you read manuscripts in the British Library. He looked surprised. ‘No, don’t worry about that,’ he said.


He had several keys with him, but none fitted the library, which turned out to be a huge oak bookcase with locked glass doors. Finally, it opened. He found a ladder and left me alone with the un-catalogued books. They had been bound in natural leather. It was the custom for landowners to bind their library books with leather from their own pedigree cattle, in this case Herefords. Casares had added his own bookplates. As I slowly pulled the books down from the shelves, I quickly realized what a complete collection it was.


After some time, I’d reached the top shelf and a large, bulging leather folder. In a funny way, it was the archivist’s dream find. It was what I was looking for. It had been donated by Philip Gosse, son of Edmund, a writer friend of Hudson, and was packed with booklets and bits and pieces: two pages ripped out of one of Hudson’s notebooks, in execrable hand-writing, an invitation to the opening of the Hudson Memorial in Hyde Park, several numbers of RSPB booklets by Hudson, a handwritten lecture which I guessed was by Gosse himself, given when he came over to Buenos Aires, invited by Casares . . .


Ramiro, the faux librarian, noticed my excitement and commented: ‘Nobody has ever come here to this bookcase.’ Just then a young woman came up to me, pecked me on the cheek and sat down to write, as if she knew me well and I’d always been there. I was now chatting with Ramiro, who told me he was born an ornithologist and was studying bird behaviour, with genetics. ‘The first part of your study is Hudson’s territory,’ I said (Hudson ignored genetics). But the student had no sense of history, nor did the bird society. He asked me, ‘Did Darwin really die of Chagas’s disease?’ I told him what I knew, admitting that I’d published on that very subject. Somehow in the informal atmosphere I felt Hudson’s presence, that lament late in his life that he should never have left Argentina, that he was interesting to the scientists in England when writing on Argentine birds, not on English ones.


W. H. Hudson was made an Honorary Member the year the Sociedad Ornitológica was founded in 1916. Did they write to inform him? He was the only member from London listed in the first number of the society magazine, El Hornero, in 1917. But nobody there could find any correspondence or even knew where it might be kept. Both the society and its scientific magazine were the first of their kind in South America. Hudson had a special fondness for the hornero ovenbird, and was quoted in several of the early scientific papers. Here in Argentina, Hudson was taken seriously as an ornithologist, rather than as a writer.
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I noticed too that the poet Leopoldo Lugones had a section on Argentine birds in the December 1920 number of El Hornero, which I know Hudson read. He wrote poems on individual birds and must have studied Hudson.


I felt an urge to see if this unused Hudson collection could be united with the collection in the Hudson museum. I left with photocopies for which I wasn’t charged, but honourably resisted the temptation to pocket my finds.


I feel Hudson’s spirit was still there 140 years after he’d abandoned Buenos Aires – in the birth shack in Quilmes, the Parodi sculpture, the rented home and pulpería Las Acacias, and the Aves Argentinas library. But to find out more about his actual presence, I needed to return to the written word.





Chapter 2



Happy Families


So much for W. H. Hudson’s meagre survival in plaques and monuments in two continents. They start to give a sense of the man but they can’t quite bring him to life. I needed more details but faced the first of the many enigmas surrounding his biography and it concerns his parents. There’s so little to go on. No pictures or portraits of these parents and little on his five brothers and sisters.


Professor Enrique Pedrotti, president of the Sociedad de Amigos de Hudson in Buenos Aires and a university lecturer, has attempted a family tree. In a bar in the south in Mexico street, he showed me a photo of Hudson’s elder sister Carolina, who looked like any other Victorian spinster. I’d had the feeling that Professor Pedrotti was testing me, that I had to pass some exam, but then this fastidious man relaxed, bought me a toasted sandwich and shared his researches.


He showed me photocopies of hard-to-find articles. But there’s not much on his Argentine days. In fact, there’s only one surviving, signed photo of Hudson himself. It’s a lovely image of a twenty-six-year-old amateur ornithologist, with a dreamy, far-off look, taken in Buenos Aires. The photo was sent to the Smithsonian and has been reproduced countless times.


Hudson’s account in Far Away and Long Ago, 1917, is the sole source of information about his childhood, his parents, and his brothers and sisters. Hudson’s best book is an elegy to the break-up of his family. With his mother’s death in 1859 and two brothers away working, family life collapsed. This ‘fall of the house of Hudson’ is reiterative. As well as this ending of childhood bliss, Hudson’s notion of how memory works is crucial: there’s no order, so chronology is weak and pointless; there’s no sequence and no progress. As he claims, memory serves and fools us. But then so does history. So memory and history are dreamlike and patchy, leaving more out than can be included. The same goes for biography. Outside his version of events, we are left clutching at straws: we can only go beyond him by speculating. He made it hard for biographers for his experiences are not tied to chronology or dates. He deliberately made them ‘unchangeable’, eternal.
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Earliest photo of W. H. Hudson, 1867.


His father, Daniel Hudson, first-generation American with an Irish-born mother, was born in Marblehead, Massachusetts, on 1 May 1804 and married Caroline Kimble, Hudson’s mother, in 1825. She came from Berwick, Maine, and was also born in 1804 on 1 October, daughter of a pastor into a third-generation quasi-Quaker family.


When she was aged seventy-seven, Marjory Stoneman Douglas, writer of an ecological study of the Florida Everglades, explored this past deliberately erased by Hudson. Daniel’s father had supposedly emigrated from Clyst Hydon in Devon, England, but she found no Hudson from Clyst Hydon in the parish record. She’d asked a parish priest to check, but maybe he didn’t look into the chapels.


Though well known as dissenters, the name Kimble or similar did not appear on the manifest of the Mayflower, as Hudson had surmised. The mother’s family names of Kimble and Merriam are well established in New England, but not much more could be dragged out of records. The Hudsons reached America sometime after independence, and opened a tarred rope business in the port of Marblehead. They were ‘sea-haunted’, and had heard many tales of the land that had broken away from the Spanish Empire to become first the Provincias Unidas del Río de la Plata in 1810 and then the Confederación Argentina or just the República Argentina. But after arriving in Argentina, the Hudsons would remain aliens in a Catholic culture and never really learnt Spanish.


Why on earth did Daniel and Caroline Hudson end up as cattle and sheep farmers? The marriage certificate I saw states that they were married in Boston on 18 August 1825, with no witnesses except the Revd Hosea Ballou who married them. Only Caroline gave an address – Portsmouth, New Hampshire. The rest of the certificate is crossed out. My guess is that it was filled out in a hurry. However, they must have brought some capital out to Argentina to buy land and animals, probably an inheritance from his family brewery.


One biographer suggests that they married against their parents’ wishes; another that they had financial problems; another that a friend had spoken of the vast wealth to be made in Argentina. Morley Roberts, earliest literary friend of W. H. Hudson and first biographer, remembered something about an accident in a brewery or tuberculosis, but the fact is, as Jorge Casares noted, they wanted to become ‘pilgrims’ and begin again, without the baggage of family history. Obviously William’s Devon-born grandfather had emigrated to begin anew, and maybe Daniel had the same desire, which the grandson later also shared. Perhaps this roaming gene is my heritage too, with my father bringing the family all the way from Mauritius to England, and myself spending a great deal of time in South America. As far as the Hudsons are concerned, all I can do is agree with Paul Theroux that the Hudsons were ‘Yankees to the core’. They were among the earliest American settlers in Argentina.
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